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Date of Issuance: 07/29/2022      Solicitation No. 2022-02-OSP 

 Requisition No.      Amendment No. 001 

Hour and date specified for receipt of offers is changed:  No   Yes, to: 08/09/2022 3: 00PM CST 
 
Pursuant to OAC 260:115-7-30(d), this document shall serve as official notice of amendment to the solicitation 
identified above. Such notice is being provided to all suppliers to which the original solicitation was sent.  
Suppliers submitting bids or quotations shall acknowledge receipt of this solicitation amendment prior to the hour 
and date specified in the solicitation as follows: 

  Sign and return a copy of this amendment with the solicitation response being submitted; or, 
  If the supplier has already submitted a response, this acknowledgement must be signed and returned prior to the 

solicitation deadline. All amendment acknowledgements submitted separately shall have the solicitation number and 
bid opening date in the subject line of the email. 

 
 ISSUED FROM:  
 Kearstyn Murphy    Solicitations@travelok.com 
Contracting Officer  Phone Number  E-Mail Address 

  
RETURN TO: Solicitations@travelok.com 
  
Description of Amendment: 

a. This is to incorporate the following: 
Bidders who elected to conduct site visits were allowed to take pictures and videos of the locations during their 
walkthrough. 
 
Q1. Does all the equipment come with the facilities? 
A1. Yes. 
 
Q2. Does the supplier provide additional equipment needed to run their business? 
A2. Yes.  
 
Q3. If there is major equipment needed to run the restaurant, then the supplier can put in a request for the 
equipment? 

A3. OTRD will review requests for the purchase and replacement of major equipment necessary to run a restaurant. 
The supplier will purchase the equipment and may be reimbursed by the agency. 

 

Q4. Who covers the cost of repairs on the equipment currently located in the facilities? 

A4. OTRD will cover the cost of the equipment repairs owned by the agency. Equipment purchased by the suppliers 
will be repaired at their expense. 

 

Q5. Who is responsible for cleaning the locations when the contract is awarded? 

A5. OTRD will be responsible for cleaning the locations prior to the suppliers beginning services. 

 

Q6. Who is responsible for disposing of perishable products currently at the locations? 

A6. OTRD will be responsible for disposing of perishable products prior to the suppliers beginning services.  
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Q7. How long was the location at Lake Murray opened? 

A7. Lake Murray’s restaurant opened in May of 2020. 

 

Q8. Will the logo for Foggy Bottom Kitchen be removed prior to the new supplier moving in? 

A8. Yes, all signage will be removed prior to the new suppliers beginning services. 

 

Q9. Have the patio chairs been moved inside while the restaurant is closed? 

A9. Yes, the chairs present in all the locations are for both the inner and outer seating areas. 

 

Q10. Is there a sound system at Lake Murray State Park’s location? 

A10. Yes, there is a sound system at Lake Murray State Park. 

 

Q11. How many rooms are at Quartz Mountain State Park? 

A11. There are 94 rooms, 12 suites, 10 cabins, 4 pavilions, and one ballroom at Quartz Mountain. 

 

Q12. Is the supplier allowed to cater out of the Quartz Mountain location? 

A12. Yes, the supplier shall have the ability to provide catering services to the Quartz Mountain, Sequoyah, and 
Lake Murray locations. 

 

Q13. Is there a point in time when the supplier can adjust their hours and the meals they serve based on the ebb 
and flow of traffic to the location? 

A13. Yes, the supplier will be able to adjust their hours and the meals they service doing the parks off season 
should that be necessary. A discussion with the parks’ staff and the contract monitor will need to be had to ensure 
everyone is aware of the changes and OTRD staff can inform people accordingly. 

 

Q14. Who is responsible for linens and other items generated from catering events? Is the park staff responsible for 
the washing of linens and the cleaning of the venue space, or will that fall with the supplier? 

A14. This is something that will be decided during negotiations. 

 

Q15. What is the total capacity for the ballroom at Quartz Mountain? 

A15. The ballroom can accommodate up to 550 people. 

 

Q16. Where do the trucks delivering items arrive and unload? 

A16. There’s a delivery dock attached to the restaurant area of the lodge. 

 

Q17. Who will provide custodial services for the ballroom? Will it be park staff or the supplier? 

A17. This will be discussed and decided during negotiation. 

 

Q18. Can customers grab a beer and walk around the grounds? 
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A18. This will be limited to the restaurant area only at this time. Further discussion can be had during negotiation 
and transition. 

 

Q19. Does the Quartz Mountain facility have a smoker? 

A19. Yes, the facility does have a smoker. 

 

Q20. Is there an area where Swadley’s Foggy Bottom Kitchen sold merchandise? 

A20. Yes, the front area of the dining facility is where Swadley’s Foggy Bottom Kitchen displayed their 
merchandise. 

 

Q21. Is it a requirement to sell merchandise at the facilities? 

A21. No, it is not a requirement to sell merchandise; however, if merchandise is going to be sold, then it will need to 
be approved by the designated OTRD staff. 

 

Q22. Is it the responsibility of the supplier to decorate the locations dining area? 

A22. Yes, the supplier will be responsible for decorations that have little to no impact to the building; however, 
anything requiring installation (i.e., chandelier), then the supplier would pay for the item and OTRD would work with 
a vendor to do the installation. The supplier would then be responsible for paying the agency back for the labor. 
This is done to ensure the agency is not circumventing Title 61. 

 

If the supplier wants to remove any decorations currently up at the location that does not require any major 
construction, then they are allowed to do so once the contract is fully awarded, and the transition meeting has been 
had. 

 

Q23. When does the amendment get publicly posted? 

A23. My goal is to have this posted on 07/22/22; however, that was not possible. Due to the delay in posting the 
due date has been extended to Tuesday, August 9, 2022. 

 

Q24. Is there another site visit schedule at Beavers Bend State Park? 

A24. There were two site visits scheduled at Beavers Bend State Park. 

 

Q25. What financial records can be provided to the bidders as far as average guest count, foot traffic, bills, etc.? 

A25. The information OTRD has available for each location is attached to this amendment. 

 

Q26. Who is responsible for landscaping and maintenance at the facilities? 

A26. The suppliers at Robbers Cave and Beavers Bend will be responsible for maintaining plant beds; however, 
mowing, clearing tree limbs, etc. will remain the responsibility of the park. Changes to the plants in the beds will 
need to be preapproved.  

 

Q27. How far from the building can the supplier conduct business? For example, if the supplier wants to set up an 
event in the grassy area adjacent to the restaurant, do they have permission to do so? Will this be approved on a 
case-by-case basis? 



 
Solicitation Amendment 

OTRD FORM CP 011 Rev. 05/2021  
 

OKLAHOMA 
Tourism and Recreation 
Department 
 

A27. The suppliers will need to fill out and submit a Use Permit form prior to conducting business. Suppliers will 
work directly with park managers on this. The suppliers cannot conduct business outside of the restaurant unless 
providing room service or delivery has been discussed and agreed upon, or they have submitted the Use Permit 
and it has been approved. 

 

Q28. Is everything run through propane or natural gas at Beavers Bend? 

A28. Propane. 

 

Q29. What was the average use of propane at Beavers Bend location while it was open? 

A29. This is unknown. 

 

Q30. Who is responsible for the marketing and signage for the new location? 

A30. OTRD will promote the restaurants in OTRD’s circulations (i.e., travel guides and dining guides). Signage 
inside and outside the park areas will be at the suppliers’ expense. All signs will need to be approved by staff at the 
OKC office prior to being displayed. All marketing for billboards, radio, TV, etc. will be at the expense of the 
supplier. 

 

Q31. How will the Oklahoma State Park branding appear on merchandise and what will the logo appear on? 

A31. The goal OTRD has with resale items is to ensure what is being sold at the locations is branded to the 
location. For example, the location at Beavers Bend State Park will have Beavers Bend State Park displayed. The 
logos that appear on park employees’ clothing will not appear on any apparel or resale items. This will also be a 
topic during the transition meetings. 

 

Q32. There are no restrictions on what is sold at the location if approval is granted first. 

A32. This is correct. 

 

Q33. Will the supplier have exclusivity when it comes to running a restaurant at the Beavers Bend location? 

A33. OTRD cannot speak to a restaurant at the marina as planning is ongoing and nothing is finalized; however, if 
OTRD hires food trucks or another concessionaire hires a food truck for a different location at the park, then 
conversations will be had with park management and the suppliers to preserve a good working relationship and not 
create direct competition. 

 

Q34. Is the parking lot across the road employee parking, or is it designated parking? 

A34. All the parking is open and discussion between the awarded supplier and the park will need to be had to 
designate parking. 

 

Q35. What happens after the bids are turned in and the solicitation closes? 

A35. The bids are evaluated for responsiveness while this is being completed NDAs are sent to the evaluators. 
Once the NDAs are signed and returned the evaluation process begins. The evaluation may range in length; 
however, each bidder that is responsive will be evaluated on their finances, their responses to the mandatory 
elements, and their staffing information. The agency will reach out to potential awardees and begin the negotiation 
process. If negotiations are not needed, then OTRD will circulate the contract for signature. Once the contract is 
signed there will be a transition meeting where each supplier will be able to meet the parks staff, learn about the 
reports they will need to provide to OTRD staff, and discuss next steps. 
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Q36. Will some parts of the bid be weighted differently than others? 

A36. At this time all parts of the bid will be weighted the same; however, this could change prior to the closing of the 
solicitation. 

 

Q37. What are the working hours of the restaurant? 

A37. The open hours of the locations can be determined by the supplier; however, the supplier will need to 
communicate with OTRD staff to ensure everyone is informed and is able to provide accurate information to guests. 
Hours of operation can vary from the on-season to the off-season. 

 

Q38. Does OTRD have a complete inventory list for each location? 

A38. Yes, we have a completed inventory list for each location. This information will be provided to the awarded 
supplier upon contract execution. 

 

The evaluation team is made up of subject matter experts qualified by the agency to assess the documents 
requested from the bidders. The contracting officer’s role in the solicitation process is to be an unbiased party 
guiding the process, and this individual has no bearing on the outcome of the evaluation. 

 

Q39. Who is on the evaluation team? 

A39. As of this time there is no answer to this question. 

 

Q40. Is the evaluation based 100% on the proposal? 

A40. Yes, the evaluation team will only consider the information that is presented in the proposal and that aligns 
with what the agency requested for scoring purposes. This is the financial statement, response to mandatory and 
non-mandatory elements, and presented team of people. 

 

Q41. How is OTRD going to ensure the existing resale inventory at the locations is removed and the locations are 
ready for the new supplier? 

A41. All resale items, perishables, décor, and restaurant inventory the supplier does not wish to use at their 
business will be removed prior to the supplier moving in and beginning business.  

 

Q42. Will OTRD be doing a maintenance check on the facilities to ensure everything is fully operational? 

A42. OTRD will conduct a walkthrough with the supplier at each location as part of the transition meeting. OTRD 
will do periodic inspections; however, if something comes up prior to the inspection, then OTRD will rely on the 
suppliers communicating the issues. OTRD and the suppliers will work together to resolve any issues while also 
adhering to Oklahoma laws and statutes.  

 

Q43. Does OTRD have contact information for the vendor who provided the POS and security? 

A43. OTRD does not have this information. 

 

Q44. Does the total seating number provided in the Scope of Work include the patio, or is it just internal to the 
building? 

A44. Yes, the seating includes both inside the building and patio seating. 
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Q45. Eco-friendly and biodegradable containers are more expensive than other containers. Is this something that 
can be negotiated? 

A45. Yes, the bidders can choose not to provide to go containers or take exception to the mandatory element. 
However, OTRD’s number one priority is keeping the areas safe for wildlife and the land clear of trash. This is part 
of the agency’s mission and values; therefore, a bidder’s ability and willingness to uphold these missions and 
values will be taken into consideration.  

 

Q46. Does the menu with pricing have to be submitted in the bid response?  

A46. The pricing doesn’t need to be final; however, it would be helpful for OTRD to see a mockup a menu or 
multiple menus. 

 

Q47. Is there a floor plan for the Beavers Bend location? 

A47. Yes, the floor plan for the Beavers Bend location will be uploaded as a separate document to the website. 

 

Q48. Can additional questions be asked? 

A48. Yes, questions can be accepted until 07/29/2022. 

 

Q49. Will the new supplier be expected to keep the Foggy Bottom Kitchen name? 

A49. No, the new supplier can change the name and create their own marketing campaign. 

 

Q50. Does all the cooking equipment currently in the facility come with the leasing of the facility? 

A50. Yes. 

 

Q51. If the new supplier purchases equipment to run their business, then these are items they may take with them 
upon lease expiration? 

A51. Yes, this is correct. 

 

Q52. Will the location be rebid every five (5) years? 

A52. The concessionaire contracts are different than other contracts. After the initial five years OTRD will assess 
the business partnership. If everything is going well, then the lease will continue without the bidding process. The 
metrics by which the agency will assess the business partnership will be presented prior to the five years lapsing. 

 

Q53. Will the supplier have the capability to do buffets (i.e., a breakfast buffet)? 

A53. That’s something that will need to be put into the bidder’s proposal. 

 

Q54. Were the locations forced to leave without the ability to gather items and clean the locations? 

A54. It depends on the location. Some locations were cleaned and prepared for the next supplier, and some were 
left as is. 

 

Anyone is welcome to go view the locations at the parks as a guest and take pictures of the exterior; however, no 
one will be granted the opportunity to tour the inside of the facility. 
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Q55. How much longer will the investigation into Swadley’s and OTRD go on? 

A55. I don’t have an answer this because thorough investigations can take years and if there are any court 
proceedings following the investigation that will increase the timeframe. 

 

Q56. Will the current facilities be wrapped in the investigation, and is there any concern about the investigation 
impacting the new suppliers? 

A56. The facilities and the new supplier should not be impacted by the ongoing investigation. The facilities are 
owned by the agency and all the construction and equipment was paid for by OTRD through reimbursement under 
the terms of the previous contract. The new supplier will be considered a fresh business coming in and will not be 
treated as a party involved in the investigation. 

 

Q57. My suppliers have profit and loss statements as well as wages paid to the staff for the past three years the 
state ran the location at Sequoyah State Park. This is not like bidding on picking up trash as there are a lot more 
moving parts to the restaurant business and right now restaurants don’t make a lot of money because of the price of 
food and what we need to be able to pay our staff to have the best service possible at this location. 

A57. OTRD is aware the restaurant business is different from waste collection services. OTRD has collected the 
information available to the agency. Unfortunately, due to the nature of the previous contract most data was lost or 
not received by OTRD. 

 

Q58. Does the supplier need to provide proof of an Oklahoma Sales Tax Permit and registration with the Oklahoma 
Secretary of State in their bid response? 

A58. If the information is current and available, then yes, this information will need to be provided. However, if this 
information is not available, then it may be left blank. The agency will require proof of both these items prior to the 
awardee taking over the location. 

 

Q59. The bidder requested the profit and loss statements broken down by total monthly sales revenue and the 
monthly cost of goods for food and supplies as well as restaurant staff wages for each month for these years 2017, 
2018, and 2019 for the Sequoyah State Park location. 

A59. OTRD can provide sales information for years 2018 and 2019; however, the cost of goods sold, and staff 
wages is at the behest of the supplier and OTRD will have no say over staff wages as they are employed by the 
supplier. OTRD will also not have say over contracts the supplier engages in with food suppliers.  

 

Q60. What is the cost for trash removal as well as the utilities for each month (i.e., gas, electric, and water) for 
2017, 2018, and 2019 for the Sequoyah State Park? 

A60. Waste Collection is taken care of by each location and the supplier at the Sequoyah State Park location will 
pay a percentage of the utilities. This percentage is subject to change prior to award. 

 

Q61. Who did all the inspections for fire suppression systems, fire extinguishers, and hood vent cleaning as well as 
any inspections that the Fire Marshal or any inspections that Cherokee County Health Department did on the facility 
on a pass or fail basis or any reports that we need to be aware of or any other past inspections that we need to be 
aware of either internal or external inspections, etc. at the Sequoyah State Park location? 

A61. OTRD acquired the inspections for the building, fire extinguishers, fire suppression systems, etc. from the 
Oklahoma State Fire Marshal. All the permits are still within their lifespan and have not expired. 

 

Q62. How much insurance is required for liability from the restaurant, or does the state take care of this? 
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A62. The supplier is responsible for providing insurance and the insurance must meet the minimum State 
requirements for liability coverage, which is $1 million for each person, $2 million for property damage, and $1 
million for each incident. 

 

Q63. Will we need any special permits to operate within the state park? 

A63. Supplier must comply with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations as well as all other applicable laws, 
ordinances, and regulations of the municipality and county where the leased premises are located. 

 

Q64. Why did OTRD quit staffing and running the restaurant internally to begin with? 

A64. This information is not pertinent to the bidder’s response; therefore, will not be answered on this platform. 

 

Q65. Can any sales or other similar data be provided to demonstrate historical sales for each of the restaurant 
locations? 

A65. The information OTRD has available is attached to this amendment.  

 

Q66. Is there a schedule or other fiscal policy that informs decisions for when equipment should be repaired vs. 
replaced? 

A66. No, there is not an established schedule or policy. The agency and selected suppliers will develop a 
maintenance schedule during negotiations. When replacements are needed, the supplier may submit a 
replacement proposal for consideration and approval by the agency. Approved replacement plans may be offset 
from royalties due to the agency. 

 

Q67. Is OTRD allocating funds for regular replacement of equipment in the restaurants? 

A67. Replacement will be managed through royalty offsets as outlined in the agreement.  

 

Q68. Does Quartz Mountain have an event planner on staff? If not, how are meetings and other events coordinated 
with food service? 

A68. Yes, Quartz Mountain has an event coordinator on staff. This individual will work with the restaurant staff to 
coordinate catering and other event needs.  

 

Q69. What will be the nature of the restaurant vendor’s relationship with event planning at Quartz Mountain? 

A69. The at Quartz Mountain have weekly meetings in which upcoming events are discussed. The restaurant 
supplier will be invited to these meetings and will have the opportunity to work together with the Quartz Mountain 
Lodge staff. 

 

Q70. Is all equipment going to be updated with the new equipment purchased? Specifically, will the used smokers 
be replaced with the new smokers purchased by Swadley’s and placed at other locations? 

A70. The equipment currently onsite at each location will be included in lease agreements. Any additional 
equipment desired by the vendor will be the responsibility of the supplier to obtain. 

 

Q71. Will occupancy/booking data be made available to help plan for restaurant traffic? 

A71. Yes, park management/staff will work with suppliers to provide booking data for planning purposes. 
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The dates the locations were open under previous management to when they closed is as follows: 

Lake Murray State Park: Opened 05/2020 and closed 04/2022 

Sequoyah State Park: Opened 06/2020 and closed 04/2022 

Beavers Bend State Park: Opened 08/2020 and closed 04/2022 

Quartz Mountain State Park: Opened 10/2021 and closed 04/2022 

Robbers Cave State Park: Opened 04/2022 and closed 04/2022 

. 

b. All other terms and conditions remain unchanged. 

             
Supplier Company Name (PRINT)  Date 

               
Authorized Representative Name (PRINT)  Title  Authorized Representative Signature 

 



Restaurant
FOOD & BEVERAGE SALES
Location Lake Murray Restaurant Sequoyah Restaurant

Jul-19 $101,322 $97,104
Aug-19 $104,219 $61,097
Sep-19 $52,571 $51,868
Oct-19 $40,647 $43,832
Nov-19 $46,396 $43,527
Dec-19 $62,691 $35,863
Jan-20 $43,471 $25,049
Feb-20 $11,752 $32,116
Mar-20 $59,354 $42,335
Apr-20 $45,263 $27,790
May-20 $44,201 $41,254
Jun-20 $103,933 $59,410

Jul-20 $111,042 $68,988
Aug-20 $77,819 $43,034
Sep-20 $45,017 $42,912
Oct-20 $59,641 $33,388
Nov-20 $27,822 $23,130
Dec-20 $40,882 $21,295
Jan-21 $42,239 $32,322
Feb-21 $4,900 $26,700

FY20

FY19

Restaurant Revenue



Facility Park Visitation
Beavers Bend State Park 2,283,559
Lake Murray State Park 1,698,000
Robbers Cave State Park & Belle Starr Lodge 983,131
Sequoyah State Park (inc. Sequoyah Bay SP) 448,481
Quartz Mountain State Park 206,364

FY21 Park Visitation
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